THE INFLUENCE OF A CANCER DIAGNOSIS ON AN INDIVIDUAL'S MENTAL HEALTH: A RETROSPECTIVE CANADIAN COHORT STUDY

by © Samantha Foster

A Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> **Master of Science in Medicine** Memorial University of Newfoundland

> > May 2019

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

Rationale: There is currently little literature available that discusses the link between cancer and mental illness outside of the diagnosis of depression.

Objective: The primary objective of this thesis project is to assess the impact of a cancer diagnosis on indicaors of an individual's mental health, that is, the diagnoses of mental health disorders, the use of psychotropic drugs, and/or a referral to a mental health specialist after index diagnosis for cancer.

Hypothesis: It is hypothesized that there will be an increase in both the diagnosis of mental illness and the use of psychotropic drugs following a diagnosis of cancer.

Method: The study was conducted using the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance (CPCSSN) database. The electronic medical records of patients with incident cancer diagnoses, i.e. diagnosed within the past three years, were identified. Those cases were then followed for a year, examined for mental health condition diagnoses and prescription of psychoactive drugs, and compared to a cancer-free, matched cohort.

Results: It was found that oncology patients were twice as likely to have a subsequent mental illness indicator in the year after diagnosis (OR=2.05, 95% CI=1.68-2.50, p=0.001). The type of cancer did not appear to have an impact on whether or not the patient would experience a mental illness indicator (χ^2 =0.074, p=0.626). It did, however, impact the type of mental illness diagnosed (χ^2 =40.522, p<0.001) and the type of psychoactive drug prescribed (χ^2 =30.679, p<0.001).

Conclusion: Implications of this study encourage the promotion of screening for mental illness in oncology patients.

Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. Marshall Godwin of Memorial University of Newfoundland's Faculty of Medicine. This project would not have happened without his continued guidance and collaboration.

Special thanks to Dr. Gerry Mugford and Dr. William Midodzi of Memorial University of Newfoundland's Faculty of Medicine. I am grateful for their role as committee members on this project.

Table of Contents

Abstract	I
Acknowledgements	II
Table of Contents	
List of Tables	IV
List of Abbreviations & Symbols	V
Chapter 1	1
1.1 Introduction	
1.2 Literature Review	
1.2.1 Quality of Life (QOL) and Life Satisfaction in Cancer Patients	
1.2.2 Prevalence of Mental Disorders in Cancer Patients	
1.2.2.1 Adjustment Disorder and Major Depression	
1.2.2.2 Anxiety and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)	4
1.2.2.3 Psychological Distress and Sleep Disturbances	
1.2.3 Detection and Current Treatment Approaches	
1.2.4 Cancer Treatment in Canada	6
1.2.5 Literature Review Summary	7
1.3 Study Objective:	7
1.3.1 Research Question	7
1.3.2 Main Hypothesis	8
1.3.2.1 Null Hypothesis	8
1.3.2.2 Alternative Hypothesis	8
Chapter 2	9
2.1 Methods	9
2.1.1 Sampling Frame/Data Source	
2.1.2 Study Design	
2.1.3 Study Cohort	
2.1.4 Primary Outcome Variable	
2.1.5 Process of Establishing the Exposure Groups and Determining the Prim	
2.1.6 Statistical Analyses	12
2.1.7 Sample Size Adequacy	
2.1.8 Ethical Considerations	
Chapter 3	17
3.1 Results	1 /
Chapter 4	22
4.1 Discussion	22
4.2 Study Limitation	25
4.3 Summary of Findings	27
4.4 Implication of Study	
Dafarancas	20

List of Tables

- Table 3.1: Baseline Characteristics of Exposed (Developed Cancer) and Unexposed (Did Not Develop Cancer) Groups
- Table 3.2: Presence of a mental health condition indicator categorized based on cancer type.
- Table 3.3: Description of metal health diagnosis indicators according to cohort.
- Table 3.4: Univariate analysis of patient demographics with the development of a mental health condition during the follow-up period.

List of Abbreviations & Symbols

α Significance level

β Type II error rate (1-power)BHS Beck Hopelessness Scale

CMD Common Mental Disorders

CPCSSN Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network

DALY Disability Adjusted Life Years

DSM Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders

EMR Electronic Medical Record

GAD Generalized Anxiety Disorder

GP General Practitioner

HREB Health Research Ethics Board

ICD International Classification of Diseases

MAC Mental Adjustment to Cancer scale

MDD Major Depressive Disorder

n Population
OR Odds Ratio

p₁ Proportion of individuals with a mental health disorder in unexposed group

p₂ Proportion of individuals with a mental health disorder in exposed group

PD Panic Disorder

PECO Population, Exposure, Control, Outcome

PTSD Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

PTS Post-Traumatic Stress

QOL Quality of Life

SD Standard Deviation

SES SocioEconomicStatus

SPSS Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

SWL Satisfaction With Life

WHO World Health Organization

Z Power

Chapter 1

1.1 Introduction

Two in five Canadians will be diagnosed with cancer in their lifetime and it is terminal in approximately 25% of those cases¹. Due to the severity of the disease, many patients interpret a diagnosis of cancer as a death sentence². The fear instilled by the diagnosis can lead to increased mental distress.

Twenty-five percent of the general population will experience a mental illness in their lifetime^{3, 4}. The prevalence is higher for those suffering physical ill health, especially chronic conditions, such as cancer^{3, 5}. Mental disorders, such as depression and anxiety, have been shown to increase patient's hospital stays and recovery time and reduce compliance and treatment efficiency⁶⁻⁸. Lengthened hospital stays increase the burden on Canada's health care cost; however, easing the psychological distress can improve a patient's quality of life (QOL) and offset medical costs⁹⁻¹¹.

There is currently little literature available that discusses the link between cancer and mental illness outside of the diagnosis of depression. This study aims to assess the effect of the first diagnosis of cancer on an individual's mental health using the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network (CPCSSN) database.

1.2 Literature Review

1.2.1 Quality of Life (QOL) and Life Satisfaction in Cancer Patients

The World Health Organization (WHO)¹² defines QOL as "a state of complete physical, mental, and social well-being", not necessarily absence of disease. WHO¹² further explains that an individual's perception of their position in the community, their relationships, and their personal beliefs have a large impact on QOL.

A number of factors influence the QOL of a patient diagnosed with cancer, such as acceptance of their diagnosis, body image, physical frailty and discomfort, ability for self-care, dependence on others, and perceived loss of dignity¹³⁻¹⁷. A decreased QOL will have a negative impact on an individual's mental health. While there is little research describing

the relationship, mental health disorders are common in cancer patients. This comorbidity harmfully affects QOL¹⁸. In those diagnosed with terminal cancer, and thus having a short life expectancy, QOL becomes a crucial aspect of patient care.

There are many features that encompass an individual's quality of life (QOL), such as life satisfaction and feelings of hope. Standardized tools exist to measure QOL whereas others exist to assess its components, such as hopelessness. Life satisfaction is affected by a myriad of factors and is subjective, making it difficult to compare among people. Tools have been created to measure life satisfaction, such as The Satisfaction with Life (SWL) Scale¹⁹. This scale correlates with mental health and is predictive of future behaviours, such as suicide attempts.

Hope is a key therapeutic factor that has been shown to affect cancer patients' immune function, adjustment and coping skills, QOL, and overall feelings of well being²⁰⁻²⁸. McMillian et al.²⁹ defines hopelessness as a general negative outlook of the future and it is possibly the most important predictor of suicide. The Beck Hopelessness Scale (BHS) is a 20-item true-false response scale that serves as the standardized measure of hopelessness in patients²⁹. Feelings of hopefulness are related to psychosocial elements of pain and therefore, pain can feel severe^{20, 30, 31}. Chronically ill individuals with feelings of hopelessness experience depression and a desire to hasten death²⁰.

1.2.2 Prevalence of Mental Disorders in Cancer Patients

Psychosocial problems are present in 25-50% of cancer patients and approximately 25-33% of these patients develop depression, adjustment disorders, anxiety, or sleep disturbances^{9, 18, 32-43}. Significant psychological distress is common across all stages of cancer¹⁶; however, uncertainty exists as to when the onset of mental disorders occurs in cancer patients. Some studies show that the prevalence of mental illness increases as death approaches¹⁵ while others confirm mental disorders present 6 months post diagnosis⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶. These studies differed in the type of cancer, cancer severity, and the type of mental health disorder analyzed as an outcome.

1.2.2.1 Adjustment Disorder and Major Depression

The DSM-5⁴⁷ defines adjustment disorder as "the presence of emotional or behavioural symptoms in response to an identifiable stressor occurring within 3 months of the stressor". The symptoms associated with adjustment disorder must be out of proportion of expected reactions and cause significant impairment in the individual's functioning. There are several subtypes of adjustment disorder that correlate with a patient's symptoms. For example, adjustment disorder with depressed mood may be difficult to isolate from depression. Adjustment disorder is situational, dependant on a life change or stressor. Major depressive disorder occurs when a patient has a depressed mood or a loss of interest or pleasure for a period of 2 or more weeks⁴⁷. This mood is combined with several other symptoms, such as insomnia, diminished concentration, suicidal ideation, changes in appetite and weight, etc., that significantly impair a patient's functioning.

It is well established that depression significantly reduces a patient's subjective health, may lead to poor treatment compliance, and may result in a worse outcome^{16, 17, 48-50}. Patients with depression tend to have a worsened adjustment to cancer. That is, they experience greater feelings of helplessness, hopelessness, fatalism, and they have a lower fighting spirit⁶. Clinical depression is reported to be the most frequent psychopathological complication occurring in oncology patients^{6, 51-54}.

There are variations in the reported prevalence of adjustment disorder and depression among cancer patients; it has been documented to range between 9-35% and 8-26% respectively^{9, 16, 38, 39, 48, 55-77}. Some studies have reported that the prevalence of adjustment disorder and depression in a population can reach as high as 50-65%^{9, 38, 39, 66, 68, 78, 79}. Not all depressed patients request treatment. One study by Okuyama *et al.* ⁶⁷ showed that only 28% of cancer patients that were considered depressed after nurse screening accepted psychiatric referral^{67, 80}.

Some drugs used in cancer treatment, such as interferons, produce depression as a side effect. Patients that are prescribed these types of drugs are at an elevated risk of developing depression^{2, 81}.

Depressive symptoms that do not fit the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of mental disorders (DSM) criteria for depression are regularly occurring in oncology patients^{6, 82, 83}. Symptoms can range from typical reactions to their condition to extreme

anxiety or major depressive disorder (MDD)^{84, 85}. Levels of depression are often underestimated by health care professionals^{18, 86, 87}.

Depression disorders are on a spectrum. It is possible for a patient's depression to worsen over time and even persist after their cancer treatment⁸⁴. Depressed patients may request euthanasia and are prone to a high risk of suicide⁸⁴.

Cancer has the potential to be life-threatening and anti-cancer treatments can be physically and psychological traumatic. The increased mental distress seen in these patients leads to an increased risk of developing a mental disorder and suicide ideation^{36, 72, 88}. Oncology patients with depression are at an increased risk of suicide because of the strong correlations were seen between suicidal ideation and mental health, poor physical functioning, and significant pain^{72, 89-92}. A study by Harwood⁹³ reported that 62% of individuals who had committed suicide had a physical health condition, including cancer.

1.2.2.2 Anxiety and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)

Anxiety disorders are highly prevalent in oncology patients and may exceed that of depression^{16, 94}. Like depression, anxiety disorders have the potential to adversely affect an individual's functional status^{16, 94}. Anxiety disorders, most commonly generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), panic disorder, adjustment disorder with anxious mood, and PTSD, are diagnosed in 10-30% of oncology patients^{16, 94, 95}.

Generalized anxiety disorder causes excessive anxiety and worry, more days than not, for at least 6 months. Individuals with GAD find it difficult to control the worry and have accompanying symptoms such as fatigue, sleep disturbances, restlessness, etc. These symptoms cause significant impairment in the individual's daily functioning⁴⁷. PTSD is an anxiety disorder that develops after an exposure to traumatic life events which are out of the range of normal human experience. An individual reacts with psychological and physiological distress having symptoms lasting more than one month and significantly affecting their functioning⁴⁷.

Because of the severity of the disease, a diagnosis of cancer meets the DSM criteria of a traumatic event. Therefore, cancer patients are capable of experiencing full-PTSD or PTS-symptoms and 3-35% are diagnosed with the disorder^{38, 96-103}. PTS symptoms tend to

be more frequent in cancers with an acute onset or a more fluctuating course when compared to a more stable or slowly progressing cancer¹⁰⁴.

1.2.2.3 Psychological Distress and Sleep Disturbances

Cancer diagnoses and interventional procedures contribute to psychological distress and mood disturbances seen in patients. This disruption in the patient's psyche can impede clear and rational thought^{36, 88, 105, 106}. Patients with a strong desire to overcome their disease tend to have lower levels of psychological distress¹⁰⁷. This phenomenon, known as the 'fighting spirit', can be measured using the mental adjustment to cancer (MAC) scale^{107, 108}.

Sleep disturbances are a common complaint in cancer patients. Twenty to seventy percent of women with breast cancer and 30-50% of men with prostate cancer reported difficulties sleeping at some point in their illness¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹². Oncology patients may be a population with an increased risk for sleep problems when compared to non-cancer controls¹¹³.

It is possible that problems with sleep and anxiety disorders are clinically linked because sleep disturbances are included in 2 of 6 categories for anxiety in the DSM^{82, 114, 115}. Inadequate sleep may also lead to the development of other mood disorders and depressive symptoms^{105, 116}. Some cases of severe insomnia were related to anxiety, depression, feelings of guilt, and significantly worse physical pain^{114, 117}.

1.2.3 Detection and Current Treatment Approaches

Cancer patients and individuals with comorbid conditions were most likely to contact their general physician about mental, emotional, or nervous problems when compared to the general population³³. Self-reported anxiety and depression scores can be used to predict the development of adjustment disorders and major depression in patients without clinical psychological distress at baseline. These symptoms should be controlled to prevent the development of psychological distress, even if it is at a subclinical level³⁸.

Kim et al.⁹ reported consultation rates from oncologists to consultation psychiatrists to be only 4%-10% among cancer patients and psychiatric assessment was

only given to 44.7% of patients with significant psychological distress^{9, 118-120}. These findings are higher than a previous study that reported 28.2% of patients in need received necessary psychiatric treatment^{9, 80}. Psychological distress is increasingly assessed in clinical trials but it is not yet a standard component of routine care³². Some oncology guidelines focus on distress management but other mental illnesses such as depression, anxiety, and sleep disorders may not be revealed in examinations^{32, 121}.

Mild to moderate symptoms of mental disorders such as anhedonia, guilt, and hopelessness are not easily recognized by oncologists⁶. Accurate diagnoses of depression depend on the training of the physician, the instruments used for evaluation, and the timing of evaluation relative to diagnosis and treatment^{32, 41, 68, 122-126}. There are many factors that interfere with treatment for mental illness, but low mental literacy is a big patient-related barrier⁶⁷. Some studies^{113, 127} show that only 30%-40% of the lay public can recognize depression accurately and many do not believe treatment is effective¹²⁸.

Psychological and pharmacological approaches have both been shown to be effective. However, combining both psychological and pharmacological interventions can maximize the desired outcome^{18, 38, 129, 130}. De Fazio *et al.* ⁶ showed that antidepressant treatments reduced anxiety and depression in oncology patients that accepted treatment; however, anxiety and depression worsened in patients that refused pharmacotherapy.

Mental health disorders are under-diagnosed and undertreated in oncology patients but assessing mental health continues to attract attention as researchers try to improve their QOL¹⁶. Effective diagnosis and treatment of psychiatric disorders has a positive effect on physical functioning and reduces morbidity and mortality^{3, 131, 132}. Greater clarity of the nature of anxiety and depression in cancer patients would enhance our ability to recognize and treat it effectively¹⁶.

1.2.4 Cancer Treatment in Canada

Primary care providers are typically the initial point of contact for patients and therefore, have a key role in cancer detection. This is reinforced by the fact that primary care providers are responsible to conduct routine screening for their patient population. Primary care providers function as a gatekeeper to the hospital and the specialists as well as an individual to provide continuity of care¹³³. A cancer diagnosis, the initiation of

investigation into a possible cancer diagnosis, or the referral to a specialist is conducted by the primary care practitioner. The decision of cancer treatment is then managed by the specialists, typically medical and/or radiation oncologists. Finally, the primary care practitioner can continue caring for the patient with follow-up and managing other comorbidities.

1.2.5 Literature Review Summary

Based on the literature, there appears to be a strong relationship between cancer and mental health disorders. It remains uncertain as to the exact nature of the relationship. Previous research describes the relationship, but those studies varied on cancer type and severity, as well as the type of mental health disorder. Of the mental health disorders studied, it appears as though depression and anxiety are the most common psychiatric comorbidities in oncology patients. Primary care practitioners and oncologists should remain aware of this relationship and investigate for psychological distress in their patients.

This study uses Canada-wide, primary care data from the CPCSSN database. The purpose is to compare data of individuals with and without a cancer diagnosis and analyze for subsequent mental health disorder indicators. The results from this analysis will add to the literature in this area as it looks at a generalized relationship between cancer and mental health. This generalization is beneficial as previous literature tends to focus on a specific subtype of either disease, cancer or mental health. There are limitations, however, with using this type of data and are identified in the discussion section.

1.3 Study Objective:

The primary objective of this thesis project is to assess the impact of a cancer diagnosis on indicators of an individual's mental health.

1.3.1 Research Question

The study question is whether a diagnosis of cancer increases the likelihood of a subsequent diagnosis of a mental health condition. Specifically, in a cohort of patients, age 20-65 years of age, will a first diagnosis of cancer result in an increased probability of

developing a mental health condition, (defined as an ICD9 code for a mental health condition being stated in the patient medical record, the use of psychotropic drugs, and/or a referral to a mental health specialist in the year after the cancer diagnosis) compared to a similar cohort who do not receive a diagnosis of cancer?

1.3.2 Main Hypothesis

The underlying hypothesis for this study is that patients who are diagnosed with cancer will be more likely to experience a mental health condition (as defined above) compared to individuals without a cancer diagnosis.

1.3.2.1 Null Hypothesis

Patients with cancer will not be more likely to be diagnosed with a mental health condition (as defined above) when compared to a control.

1.3.2.2 Alternative Hypothesis

Patients with cancer will be more likely to be experience a mental health condition (as defined above) when compared to a control.

Chapter 2

2.1 Methods

2.1.1 Sampling Frame/Data Source

The Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network (CPCSSN) database was used in the study. CPCSSN contains de-identified health information on patients of participating primary care providers from across Canada¹³⁴. It includes information of doctor-patient encounters, patient problem lists, prescriptions, laboratory data, investigations, etc. Each data item is coded and can be requested by researchers using such codes, e.g. ICD9 codes for diagnoses, DIN numbers for prescriptions, etc. The network data abstraction process has passed ethics review at nine universities as well as the Health Canada Ethics Review Board. Each regional network that contributes to the national CPCSSN database has gone through privacy impact assessments. Case-definitions for the eight key chronic diseases being monitored have been developed and have undergone validity studies¹³⁵⁻¹³⁷. Data is collected from the EMRs of over 750 sentinels (i.e. primary health care providers) and stored on secure severs at Queen's University¹³⁴. The purpose of the CPCSSN database is to provide data for researchers and policy/decision makers on the prevalence and management of chronic disease in Canada¹³⁴.

The diagnosis of cancer will be included in CPCSSN if the primary care provider enters it in the EMR. This would be done at the time of diagnosis or during a subsequent follow-up appointment. Cancer is a medical condition that requires follow-up, and thus, a patient is likely to see their primary care provider throughout their cancer treatment. It is possible that this does not occur, in which case, the primary care provider would not enter the diagnosis in their EMR. This could be a source of non-identification of the dependent variable, however, the likelihood of this occurring is probably low.

It was decided to use the CPCSSN database for this study due to its large size, including sentinels from across the country. It was selected for use, rather than hospital or cancer clinic data, as a control cohort was also needed for analysis. Ideally, oncology patients will be following-up with their primary care provider, and thus, included in the database.

2.1.2 Study Design

This study used a retrospective (historical) cohort design. This study design occurs in present time and involves selecting participants based on existing status of a variable of interest. The outcome data, also measured in the past, can then be used for analysis¹³⁷. The data for the exposed and unexposed groups and the data for the outcomes all existed in the database prior to the beginning of the study. The study examined the effect of a diagnosis of cancer on mental health. A study participant was determined to have developed a "mental health condition" during the year after a diagnosis of cancer if, in the CPCSSN database (patient medical records), there was, i) an ICD9 code for a mental health condition was present, ii) a DIN number for a prescription for psychotropic drugs, and/or iii) a referral to a mental health specialist). The exposure group (those with a diagnosis of cancer) was compared with a control group (those who did not receive a diagnosis of cancer) in terms of whether a mental condition occurred in the year after the cancer diagnosis. For the purpose of this study, the date of a diagnosis was considered to be the day in which the diagnosis was entered into the EMR. The data, coded in CPCSSN, could then be extracted from the database for a specified period of time, i.e. for a year from the diagnosis.

2.1.3 Study Cohort

The study population was obtained from the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network (CPCSSN) database.

Cohort Inclusion Criteria

To be included in the study cohort, a person must

- 1. be between the ages of 20 and 65 as of January 1, 2012
- 2. not have had a prior diagnosis of cancer
- 3. not have had a prior mental health condition (as defined in the Study Design section above) There were 92,305 individuals identified in the CPCSSN Database who met these inclusion criteria

To clarify, each individual will not have had a diagnosis of cancer or mental health disorder listed in the EMR. To aid in reliability, the data for each individual is reviewed prior to January 1, 2012. This is done as a safeguard to avoid missing an existing cancer or mental health diagnosis.

Exposure Group

This group contains people in the study cohort who receive a diagnosis of cancer (excluding brain and non-melanoma skin cancers) during the three-year period from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2014. Non-melanoma skin cancers were excluded because once treated, they do not generally carry the same risk of death and the fear that most cancers carry. Brain tumours were excluded because the effect on mental health might be more directly caused by a physical impact on the brain, and thus, skew the results.

Control Group

This group contains people in the study cohort who did not receive a diagnosis of cancer during the three-year period from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2014. The cohort was further defined from these unexposed individuals. For every exposed individual, 4 unexposed individuals who are the same sex and who were born in the same year were randomly selected.

2.1.4 Primary Outcome Variable

The primary outcome examined is the occurrence of a mental health condition during the first year after cancer diagnosis. A mental health condition was deemed to have occurred if:

- i) an ICD9 code was identified in the CPCSSN database indicating a mental health disorder diagnosis (ICD9 290-319).
- ii) there were one or more prescriptions for psychoactive drugs (antipsychotics, anxiolytics, hypnotics and sedatives, antidepressants, and psychostimulants), identified by DIN number.
- iii) and/or there was a referral made to a mental health specialist.

2.1.5 Process of Establishing the Exposure Groups and Determining the Primary Outcome

The results of the process of establishing the exposed and control groups, and determining the primary outcome, are detailed in Figure 1 and Tables M1 and M2 at the end of this chapter.

2.1.6 Statistical Analyses

The main aim of the analyses was to assess the risk of developing a mental health condition after acquiring a cancer diagnosis. The independent variable defines the cohort, that is, whether or not an individual has a diagnosis of cancer. The dependent variable is the development of a mental health condition. Univariate analysis describes the demographics of both the exposed and control groups was described using proportions and Mean (SD) depending on variable type. Bivariate analysis was conducted to compare outcomes between the two cohorts, assessing for statistical significance (using chi-squared analysis for categorical variables and t-test analysis for continuous variables). The relative risk and confidence intervals of the outcome given the exposure group was also determined. Missing data was identified and stated with the baseline characteristics of the cohort. Analysis was not conducted on a variable if it was missing for more than 20% of the cohort. If less than 20% was missing, the analysis was conducted and interpreted while considering the possible effects of the missing data.

Multiple logistic regression analysis was conducted due to the dichotomous nature of the dependent variable. The regression serves to adjust for possible confounders based on the results of the univariate analysis. Variables were chosen as independent variables if they achieved a significance level of 0.2 or less under univariate analysis.

There were limited number of variables available for use in the analysis due to limitations of the CPCSSN database and the matching process. Age and sex were used even though the groups were matched using those variables. This limited looking at differences by group (Exposed vs Control) of those variables but differences in development of mental health conditions could still be assessed. There was not reliable data on variables which might be related to cancer, such as smoking status, occupation, and other SocioEconomicStatus (SES) variables. Furthermore, the breakdown of some variables had large differences, such as health care providers consisting of more than 95% Family Physicians. These variables were still used in the logistic regression as control variables. That is, to see if the relationship between mental health disorders and cancer persisted while controlling for other variables.

Hence, the independent variables under logistic regression were cohort (whether they were in the cancer group or no cancer group); whether they were below or above the median age (50 years) for the full study population; male or female; whether they lived in Western Canada or Eastern Canada; and whether their provider was a family doctor or some other provider designation. All analysis will be performed using SPSS Statistical Software 22.0¹³⁹.

2.1.7 Sample Size Adequacy

The general population is expected to have a 25% prevalence of mental disorders^{3, 4}. The sample size was calculated to detect a 10% difference between the control group and the exposure group. The sample size to compare two proportions can be calculated using the formula:

$$n = (Z_{\alpha/2} + Z_{\beta})^{2} * (p_{1}(1-p_{1}) + p_{2}(1-p_{2})) / (p_{1}-p_{2})^{2}$$

The study has an 80% power (Z_{β}) to detect a 10% difference with an alpha (α) value of 0.05 if 2155 participants were enrolled. This population hold the control group at a 4:1 ratio with the exposure group. Detecting a 10% difference between the control group and exposure group, assuming they have a 45% (p_1 = control population proportion) and 55% (p_2 = exposed population proportion) prevalence, respectively. The sample will have a 95% power with a significance level (α) value of 0.05 if 4019 participants were analysed at a 4:1 ratio of control group to exposure group. This ratio of 4 control group participants to 1 exposure group participant was implemented in order to increase the statistical power¹⁴⁰. The final sample size is 6576 with an exposed group of 1316 and unexposed group of 5260.

2.1.8 Ethical Considerations

The provincial Health Research Ethics Board (HREB), established through the Health Research Ethics Authority, provided ethics approval (HREB File Number: 20170328). The level of intended data identification in the analysis was the location (province and urban/rural) of participant. This was based on the first three digits of the postal code associated with each physician practice. A postal code with the second digit "0" is considered rural and any other digit is considered urban.

The following safeguards were put in place to protect the identity of the patient's information:

- All members of the research team were briefed on their responsibility for privacy protection
- As a general principle, no names, addresses, telephone numbers were recorded on paper or requested in data files
- Any data-sharing agreements between the researcher and other researchers and/or institutions were signed prior to providing or obtaining access to data
- All computer files pertaining to the study were password protected

Figure 1: Establishing Exposed and Control Groups and Counting Primary Outcomes

Individuals Meeting the Criteria for the Full Study Cohort on January 1, 2010 N=92305

Exposed Group (Cases)

Individuals Who Developed a Cancer Diagnoses (excluding brain tumours and non-melanoma skin cancers) between January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2014

N=1316

Unexposed Group from Which the Control group was Pulled

Individuals Who Did Not Develop a Cancer Diagnosis (excluding brain tumours and non-melanoma skin cancers) between January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2014

N=90989

Control Group

For Each Case, Four Individuals were Chosen from the Unexposed Group Who Were the Same Sex and Were Born In The Same Year

N = 5260

Developed A
Mental Health
Condition in the
Year After the
Cancer Diagnosis

N=208

Did Not
Developed A
Mental Health
Condition in the
Year After the
Cancer Diagnosis

N=1108

Developed A
Mental Health
Condition in the
Year After the
Cancer Diagnosis
in Their Matched
Case
N=435

Did Not
Developed A
Mental Health
Condition in the
Year After the
Cancer Diagnosis
in Their Matched
Case
N=4825

Table M1. Cancers in the Exposed Group

Cancer Type Only index diagnosis	Total N=1303	
Respiratory & intrathoracic organs	66 (5.0%)	
Bone, connective tissue, skin, breast (male)	114 (8.7%)	
Genitourinary organs	152 (11.7%)	
Lymphatic & hematopoietic tissue	96 (7.4%)	
Carcinoma in situ	134 (10.3%)	
Colon	63 (4.8%)	
Breast (female)	232 (17.8%)	
Prostate	120 (9.2%)	
Neoplasms of uncertain behaviour	131 (10.1%)	
Other*	195 (8.5%)	

^{*}Other is defined as cancers of lip, oral cavity, pharynx, liver, and pancreas. Also included are Kaposi's sarcoma, neuroendocrine tumors, and neoplasms of unspecified behavior and other/unspecified sites.

Table M2. Mental Health Conditions Identified in Exposed and Control groups

Indicator of a Mental Health Condition		Cohort		Total	
		Exposed N= 1316	Unexposed N= 5260	N= 6576	
Mental	Drug and Alcohol Use	15 (1.14%)	41 (0.78%)	56 (0.85%)	
Disorder Diagnosis	Anxiety, Depression, Mood, & Stress- Related	125 (9.50%)	246 (4.67%)	371 (5.65%)	
	Psychosis & Other	13 (0.99%)	39 (0.74%)	52 (0.79%)	
	Antipsychotics	5 (0.38%)	18 (0.34%)	63 (4.8%)	
Psychoactive Drugs	Anxiolytics	44 (3.34%)	69 (1.31%)	232 (17.8%)	
	Hypnotics and Sedatives	37 (2.81%)	46 (0.87%)	120 (9.2%)	
	Antidepressants	64 (4.86%)	184 (3.50%)	131 (10.1%)	
	Psychostimulants	2 (0.15%)	9 (0.17%)	195 (8.5%)	
Mental	Yes	6 (0.46%)	15 (0.29%)	21 (0.32%)	
Health Referral	No	1310(99.54%)	5245(99.71%)	6555 (99.68%)	

Chapter 3

3.1 Results

Table 3.1 details the baseline characteristics of the two groups (Exposed and Control) described in Chapter 2: Methods. As expected, since the groups were matched on age and sex, there was no significant difference between the groups on these two variables. There was also no difference in the proportion of people in the two groups who lived in rural vs urban areas. Most lived in rural areas in both groups.

There was a significant difference in the groups based on the proportion of patients seen at academic clinics vs community clinics, although overwhelmingly, the patients in both groups were seen in community clinics – 87.9% of the Exposed Group and 90.7% of the Control Groups.

We had data on two western provinces (British Columbia and Alberta) and three eastern provinces (Ontario, Nova Scotia, and Newfoundland). Since there are more patients from the eastern provinces compared to the western provinces, it is not surprising that there were more Eastern Canadians in both groups (Exposed and Control). However, in the Exposed Group, 72.5% of patients were from the east and in the Control Group, 55.7% were from the east. This difference was statistically significant.

The data on the patient's main primary care provider is divided into Family Physician or Other. Almost 99% of the patients had a Family Physician as their primary care provider. The remaining care providers were either nurse practitioners or listed as general practitioner rather than family physician; they are categorized as Other. It is difficult to interpret the analysis of data that has such large skewing. However, since there was a statistically significant difference it was used for analysis. There were more care providers categorized as Other in the Exposed (Cancer) Group.

Table 3.2 is a contingency table comparing the primary outcome in the two groups (Exposed and Control). This table answers the main question in this study — "Are people with a new cancer diagnosis more likely to develop a mental health condition within a year after the cancer diagnosis compared to people who have not had a cancer diagnosis?" The answer is yes. Patients who developed cancer were 2.08 times more likely to develop a

mental health condition within a year of the cancer diagnosis [OR 2.08 (CI: 1.74 - 2.49); P 0.001].

Table 3.3 looks at our other available variables in terms of their association with the primary outcome – mental health condition. Our available variables were: Sex, Age, Location of Residence(rural/urban), Practice Type (Academic/Community), Region of Canada (West/East), and Primary Care Provider (Family Physician/Other). People who were less than age 50 years old, lived in eastern Canada, and had a primary care provider that was not a Family Physician were significantly more likely to develop a mental health condition. Only those three variables, plus sex, were added into the multiple logistic regression along with the grouping variable (Exposed vs Control). The dependent variable was the primary outcome – development of a mental health condition indicator. The purpose of the regression analysis was to adjust the OR determined in the primary univariate analysis which showed an OR of 2.08 for the effect of cancer diagnosis on development of a mental health condition indicator (Table 3.4). Because we determined that other variables were also associated with the primary outcome we wanted to account for any effect these may have had on our results. Unfortunately, and as previously stated in the Method section, we did not have data on variables that are known to be associated with the development of mental illness, such as smoking status, education, occupation, and income.

The adjusting of the OR based on the logistic regression decreased the OR slightly from 2.08 to 2.05 which does not affect the essence of our finding that the diagnosis of cancer doubles the likelihood of developing a mental health condition during the year after the cancer diagnosis.

Other variables included in the logistic regression were age, where you live in Canada, and whether your primary care provider is a family doctor. Based on this analysis they all significantly affect the likelihood of developing a mental health condition (Table 3.4). Individuals who were >50 years of age were 1.52 times more likely to develop a mental health condition. Eastern Canadians were 1.64 times more likely to develop a mental health condition than Western Canadians. Finally, patients who were treated by a family physician were 4.35 times less likely to develop a mental health condition than patients who were treated by another type of health care provider. The intention of this

analysis was to control for these variables when analyzing the primary outcome. As mentioned above, there are discrepancies in the distribution of these variables. For example, primary care provider broken into two groups, Family Physician (over 95%) and Other (less than 5%). Due to this limitation, the results of the logistic regression for these variables should be interpreted with caution.

Table 3.1: Baseline characteristics of exposed (developed cancer) and unexposed (did not develop cancer) groups described in Chapter 2.

		Developed Cancer (Exposed) N= 1316	Did not Develop Cancer (Unexposed) N=5260	P Value*	
Sex	Male	621 (47.7%)	2377 (45.5%)	0.163	
Sex	Female	682 (52.3%)	2852 (54.5%)	0.103	
Age (M	ean and SD)	1084 (49.01)	4610 (49.13)	0.712	
A	<50 years	536 (49.4)	2365 (51.3%)	0.272	
Age	50+ years	548 (50.6%)	2245 (48.7%)	0.272	
Location	Urban	1053(20.6%)	1017 (20.0%)	0.272	
of Residence	Rural	241(81.4%)	4059 (80.0%)	0.272	
Practice Type	Academic Centers	159 (12.1%) 490 (9.3%)		0.002	
	Community Clinics	1157 (87.9%)	4770 (90.7%)	0.003	
	BC	43 (3.3%)	154 (2.9%)		
	AB	319 (24.2%)	2175 (41.3%)		
Province	ON	623 (47.3%)	1948 (37.0%)	0.001	
	NS	166 (12.6%)	725 (13.8%)		
	NL	165 (12.5%)	258 (4.9%)		
Region in West Canada (BC/AB)		362 (27.5%)	2329 (44.35)	0.001	
(West East)	East (ON/NS/NL)	954 (72.5%) 2831 (55.7%)		0.001	
Provider	Family Physician	1252 (95.1%) 5239 (99.6%)		0.001	
	Other	64 (4.9%)	21 (0.4%)		

Missing data: Sex – 44 cases; Age – 882 cases; Rural/Urban – 206 cases

^{*} Pearson Chi-Square (Continuity Correction) for categorical variables. ANOVA for continuous variables.

Table 3.2: Primary Outcome: Relationship Between Having A Diagnosis of Cancer and The Development of a Mental Health Condition Within the Next Year.

	Developed A Mental Health Condition	Did Not Develop A Mental Health Condition	
Exposed Group (Cancer Diagnosis)	208 (15.8%)	1108 (84.2%)	1316
Control Group 435 (No Cancer Diagnosis) (8.3%)		4825 (91.7%)	5260
	643	5933	6576

OR 2.08 (CI: 1.74 – 2.49); P 0.001

Interpretation: Patients who developed cancer were 2.08 times more likely to develop a mental health condition within a year of the cancer diagnosis.

Table 3.3. Univariate Analysis of the Relationship Between Other Available Variables and the Development of a Mental Health Condition.

		Developed a Mental Health Condition		OR (95% CI)	
		Yes	No	P Value*	
Sex	Male	362 (10.2%)	3172 (89.8%)	1.12 (0.95 – 1.32)	
Sex	Female	277 (9.2%)	2721 (90.8%)	0.187	
Age (Mear	and SD)	47.34 (10.17)	49.29 (9.50)	P=0.001	
Age	<50 years	308 (10.6%)	2593 (89.4%)	1.38 (1.15 – 1.65)	
(Dichotomized)	50 + years	222 (7.9%)	2571 (92.1%)	0.001	
Location of	Urban	507 (9.9%)	4605 (90.1%)	1.03 (0.83 – 1.26)	
Residence	Rural	122 (9.7%)	1136 (90.3%)	0.833	
Practice Type	Academic Centers	65 (10.0%)	584 (90.0%)	1.03 (0.78 – 1.35)	
	Community Clinics	578 (9.8%)	5349 (90.2%)	0.786	
Region in Canada (West	West (BC/AB)	203 (7.5%)	2488 (92.5%)	0.64 (0.54 – 0.76)	
East)	East (ON/NS/NL)	440 (11.3%)	3445 (88.7%)	0.001	
Primary Care	Family Physician	625 (9.6%)	5866 (90.4%)	0.39 (0.23 – 0.67)	
Provider	Other	18 (21.2%)	67 (78.8%)	0.001	

Table 3.4. Logistic Regression of Variables Associated With the Development of a Mental Health Condition During the Follow-Up Period.

Variables	B/SE	Odds Ratio Exp(B)	Lower limit of 95% CI	Upper limit of 95% CI	P Value
Group (Exposed vs Control)	.717 .102	2.05	1.68	2.50	0.001
Age	0.420 0.097	1.52	1.26	1.84	0.001
Sex	.082 .095	1.09	0.90	1.30	0.388
Region of Canada (East/West)	.493 .101	1.64	1.33	2.00	0.001
Provider (Family Physician or Other)	1.48 .588	4.35	1.39	14.3	0.012

Chapter 4

4.1 Discussion

In this thesis project, it was hypothesized that patients who are diagnosed with cancer will experience more mental health conditions than individuals without a cancer diagnosis. It was found that those exposed to a diagnosis of cancer are twice as likely to develop a mental health condition within the first year of diagnosis compared to those without a cancer diagnosis. A mental health condition was assumed to have occurred if the patient was given a diagnosis on the EMR, prescribed psychoactive drugs, or given a mental health referral.

A recently published article¹⁴¹ supports this finding as their study determined that depression affects up to 20%, and anxiety 10%, of patients with cancer. This compares to the general population rates of 5% and 7%, respectively. McDaniel's¹⁴² results suggested that the prevalence of depression was substantially higher with the severity of the medical illness. A study published by Pitman et al¹⁴¹, however, found that there was no difference in prevalence of depression between oncology patients receiving end-of-life care when compared to oncology patients actively living with the disease. A Swedish study¹⁴³ focused solely on men with prostate cancer. It found that the use psychotropic drugs for mood disorders was increased in terminal disease, indicating higher levels of psychological distress. Lycken¹⁴³ suggested early identification of mental illness and improved counselling may help reduce the amplified distress seen in terminal patients. Approximately 15% of individuals diagnosed with cancer have a concurrent diagnosis of major depression. If dysthymia and minor depression is considered, this statistic rises to 20%¹⁴³. Exact numbers are difficult to determine because of the magnitude of influencing factors, i.e. stage of cancer, type of anticancer treatment, and screening and diagnostic tools¹⁴³.

Breitbart¹⁴⁴ identified risk factors for developing a mental illness in oncology patients for early recognition and effective treatment of psychiatric comorbidities. He also found that depression, anxiety, and delirium were common mental illness experienced by many oncology patients¹⁴⁵. Like McDaniel's¹⁴² study, mental illness was correlated with advanced disease and aggressive anticancer treatment, ranging from 25%-

77%. Breitbart¹⁴⁴ concluded that additional risk factors for developing a mental disorder included uncontrolled symptoms, functional limitations, lack of social support, and a past psychiatric history.

Desplenter et al.¹⁴⁵ conducted a study titled Incidence and drug treatment of emotional distress after cancer diagnosis: A matched primary care case—control study. They found that cancer patients were more likely to experience more emotional distress when compared to controls (15.6% vs 1.4%). This patient population was also found to be on a higher volume and duration of psychoactive drugs¹⁴⁵. It is thought that cancer increases an individual's vulnerability to developing depression in many ways. That is, the reaction to a diagnosis of cancer and the deterioration of health are both considered risk factors¹⁴⁶. Anticancer treatments, including chemotherapy and corticosteroids and surgical treatment, pathological and medically-induced alterations to the patient's physiology, and chronic pain pose additional risk for developing a mental illness, such as depression^{141,146}. Furthermore, the study conducted by Pitman et al.¹⁴¹ concluded that some cancers (e.g. pancreatic and lung cancers) release chemicals that are thought to cause depression.

Identifying oncology patients who have psychiatric comorbidities is key in order to assess and treat the patient holistically. These mental illnesses are known to cause a decreased quality of life, lower compliance with anti-cancer treatment, prolonged hospitalization, higher suicide risk, and greater psychological burden on caregivers¹⁴⁶. In addition to these negative effects caused by psychiatric illness, depression is considered an independent risk factor for mortality in cancer patients¹⁴⁶. In patients with depressive symptoms or a diagnosis of major depressive disorder, there is a greater mortality rate among cancer patients of 26% and 39%, respectively¹⁴⁶.

According to our results, people whose primary care provider was a family physician were less likely to develop a mental health condition. Another study, "Improving the detection and management of depression in primary care" that primary care and non-specialist practitioners may not be using current guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of depression. Use of simple questionnaires designed to measure depression and/or quality of life has not shown to impact recognition, management, or outcome of depression in non-specialist situations. Another perspective would be that patients of

family physicians may result in fewer mental health conditions because of the care received. Perhaps the patients are feeling more supported by their family physician and are not developing a mental illness indicator. It is important to remember that other healthcare providers are able to offer counselling for a patient's mental health. Therefore, patients could be benefiting from the support of counsellors, psychologists, social workers, etc. These patients may not be followed by their primary care practitioner for this issue, and thus, appear to not have a mental health disorder.

A Canadian study by Sunderland and Findlay¹⁴⁸ assessed rates of unmet mental health care needs in individuals with mental illness. This becomes particularly concerning because, in 2012, approximately 10% of Canadians have a mental health condition, and these rates are estimated to increase. This study further evaluated the mental health care need in a 1-year span. Of their study population, 21% had their need partially met and 12% had unmet needs. Sunderland and Findlay¹⁴⁸ identified distress as a predictor of mental health care need, which arguably could include presence of a physical illness. This is further supported by Statistics Canada¹⁵⁷ who found that a chronic condition can precipitate a mood, anxiety, and substance use disorders. In order to provide holistic medical care to oncology patients and address these needs, the primary practitioner should collaborate with mental health specialists¹⁵¹.

Although it was not reported, our analysis indicated that there was no significant difference found between cancer type and the presence of a mental health condition indicator. Contrary to this, Lichtenthal et al. ¹⁵¹ concluded that 10.8% of deceased oncology patients had met the criteria for at least one of the following diagnoses: MDD, GAD, PD, or PTSD. The prevalence of these was highest in patients who were diagnosed with lung, colon, pancreatic, and breast cancer. Furthermore, a meta-analysis focusing on depression in oncology patients ¹⁵², found differences in rates of depression differed in patients based on cancer type. That meta-analysis ¹⁵² found cancers of the digestive tract, brain, and female genitalia, along with hematological malignancies, to have highest rates of depression. Definitive conclusions cannot be made due to small sample sizes, limited number of studies, and variation within cancer type.

Again, although not reported in the results section, we found significant differences noted between the presence of a cancer diagnosis and the type of mental disorder diagnosis

experienced. This was also the case for the presence of a cancer diagnosis and the type of psychoactive drug prescribed. Anxiety, depression, mood, and stress-related disorders were found to be the most common category of mental health disorders diagnosed. Furthermore, this study determined that antidepressants were most the frequently prescribed psychoactive drug in the exposed cohort while anxiolytics were most frequently prescribed overall. A study by Derogatis et al. 153 conducted in 1979 found that 51% of oncology patients were using psychoactive medications. Of these, 48% were hypnotics, 26% were anti-psychotics, 25% were anti-anxiety agents, and 1% were antidepressants. Years later, a Jaeger¹⁵⁴ conducted a study in 1985 that stated 61.3% of patients had psychotropic drug prescriptions. The breakdown of those being 55.8% hypnotics and 10% antidepressants. Both Derogatis et al. 153 and Jaeger 154 reported hypnotics as being the highest prescribed psychoactive drug and antidepressants as the lowest. This study found that antidepressants were prescribed to oncology patients more frequently than sedatives/hypnotics (4.86% vs 2.81%). It is thought that this change in prescription frequency is due to the advancements made in psychoactive drugs. The first antidepressants, monoamine oxidase inhibitors and tricyclic antidepressants, had unpleasant side effects and issues with safety and toxicity. Progress has been made with the development of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors. These medications are successful in treating depression with fewer unwanted side effects¹⁵⁵.

4.2 Study Limitation

CPCSSN data has certain limitations. With the increased incorporation of technology in medical practice, paper charts are being replaced for EMRs. Not all physicians are embracing this change which results in a fraction of Canadian practitioners using EMRs and only a portion of those choosing to participate with CPCSSN. A study published in 2015 estimated EMR use in 62% of practitioners in 2013. They reported being limited as they conducted a survey to a small percentage of Canadian physicians ¹⁵⁶. However, CPCSSN does have data on about 1.5 Million patients from 750 physician practices and some work has been done on the representativeness of the data ¹⁵⁷. Due to the fact that CPCSSN extracts data from electronic medical records (EMR), there are

differences among patients that is healthcare provider dependent. The EMRs are used for clinical care and therefore, the data that researchers find useful are not always reported. such as SES variables. Depending on the patient and provider, the documentation may not be fully completed. The healthcare provider may choose to omit certain information for some or all patients, e.g. employment. Relevant descriptors of an illness may not be recorded, e.g. staging of cancer. Similar limitations are documented in other research projects. For example, one study, by Abidi et al. 156 described an underreporting of alcohol use disorders from GPs when using an EMR. It was theorized that it could be due to barriers related to alcohol screening but also avoidance due to the stigma around alcohol abuse. This stigma is seen in many aspects of mental health conditions and could be affecting the documentation on EMRs. Statistics Canada¹⁵⁷ reported that only 57% of Canadians consulted their family doctor or general practitioner for mental health care when seeking help. The other fraction was divided among social workers, nurses, psychiatrists, psychologists, and others. If the patient sought counseling on their mental health from a healthcare professional other than a practitioner participating with CPCSSN, it would not appear in the database. In terms of prescriptions, the reason for use is not described rendering it challenging to determine if the medication is for traditional or off-label use. For example, Zaini et al. 160 discussed the use of antidepressant medications for other somatic complaints, other than depressed mood, such as hot flashes, sexual dysfunction, pruritus, nausea, cachexia, fatigue, nicotine dependence, and others. Unfortunately, with the limitations presented by the CPCSSN database, these prescriptions are not screened for and their use are assumed to be due to mental illness. Due to limitations of the dataset, this study was unable to analyze time from diagnosis of cancer to mental illness. A metaanalysis by Krebber et al.¹⁵² was able to look at point prevalence of depression in patients throughout the first year after a diagnosis of cancer. Highest rates were seen acutely after diagnosis which then decreased. Burgess et al. 161 conducted a similar study, including the point prevalence of anxiety. They too, found that 33% of oncology patients experienced depression and/or anxiety at time of diagnosis. This decreased to 24% at 3 months post diagnosis and 15% at 1 year after treatment.

This study focused on the presence of any mental health condition; however, the majority of literature focuses on the presence of depression. One study, *The increasing*

burden of depression¹⁶², looked at the prevalence of and burden caused by depression. It used disability adjusted life-years (DALY), a sum of life-years lost due to premature death and years of life with disability, taking severity into consideration. This study, conducted in 2011, considered depression among the leading causes of worldwide disease and burden and predicted it to become the major health burden worldwide by 2030. Thus, it becomes crucial to recognize risk factors and the presence of depression in patients. Due to the increased frequency of depression and the often large negative effect on QOL, most research on mental health in cancer patients has this focus. There are, however, many other mental health conditions that may form in the year following a diagnosis of cancer. Based on current literature, there needs to be a wider focus to include these in future research endeavors. As mentioned earlier, poor QOL can negatively impact mental health. Unfortunately, it was not possible to control for QOL in this study due to the nature of the CPCSSN data.

4.3 Summary of Findings

This study aims to evaluate the relationship between a first diagnosis of cancer and the development of subsequent mental health disorders. Results from this study show that a diagnosis of cancer doubles an individual's risk of developing a mental health disorder indicator, i.e. were diagnosed with a mental health disorder, prescribed psychoactive drugs, and/or given a referral for a mental health specialist. There was not found to be a significant difference between the type of cancer diagnosed and the presence of a mental health condition indicator. There was, however, a significant difference found between the presence of cancer and the type of mental disorder diagnosis as well as the type of psychoactive drug prescribed. Anxiety, depression, mood, and stress-related disorders were most commonly diagnoses. Anxiolytics were the most frequently prescribed psychoactive drug overall, however, antidepressants were most common in the exposed cohort.

4.4 Implication of Study

There is currently little literature available that discusses the link between cancer and mental illness outside of the diagnosis of depression. While this project broadened that focus to include other mental health disorder diagnoses, it was limited by the available data. Researchers should continue to explore the relationship between cancer diagnoses and mental health disorders to promote change in practice.

Findings from this study should oblige clinical healthcare practitioners to promote screening for mental illness in their oncology patients as routine care. Findings from this study should encourage policy change to incorporate counsellors, psychologists, and/or social workers on the team for management of oncology patients. Collaboration of the oncology patients' primary healthcare providers and providers specializing in mental health care should be increased to address the higher rates of mental illness and unmet needs of this population.

References

- 1. Www.cancer.ca. Canadian Cancer Society, 1 Jan. 2015. Web. 13 Mar. 2015. http://www.cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancer-101/cancer-statistics-at-a-glance/?region=on.
- 2. Nuhu, F. T., et al. "Prevalence and Predictors of Depression in Cancer Patients in the University College Hospital Ibadan, Nigeria." Hong Kong Journal of Psychiatry 18.3 (2008): 107-14. Web.
- 3. Doherty, AnneM, and Fiona Gaughran. "The Interface of Physical and Mental Health." Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology 49.5 (2014): 673-82. Web.
- 4. WHO (2004) Global burden of disease. Geneva: World Health Organization
- 5. Moussavi S, Chatterji S, Verdes E, Tandon A, Patel V, Ustun B (2007) Depression, chronic diseases, and decrements in health: results from the World Health Surveys. Lancet 370(9590):851–858.
- 6. De Fazio, Pasquale, et al. "Mental Adjustment of Cancer: The Role of Anxious and Depressive Symptoms Under Treatment." International journal of psychiatry in medicine 46.4 (2013): 375-86. Web.
- 7. Valente SM, Saunders JM. Diagnosis and treatment of major depression among people with cancer. *Cancer Nursing* 1997;20:168-177. doi: 10.1097/00002820- 199706000-00002
- 8. Delgado-Guay M, Parsons HA, Li Z, Palmer JL, Bruera E. Symptom distress in advanced cancer patients with anxiety and depression in the palliative care setting. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 2009;17:573-579. doi: 10.1007/s00520-008-0529-7
- 9. Kim, Seung Jun, et al. "Prevalence and Associated Factors of Psychological Distress among Korean Cancer Patients." *General hospital psychiatry* 33.3 (2011): 246-52. Web.
- 10. B. Rehse, R. Pukrop. Effects of psychosocial interventions on quality of life in adult cancer patients: meta analysis of 37 published controlled outcome studies. Patient Educ Couns, 50 (2) (2003), pp. 179–186.
- L.E. Carlson, B.D. Bultz. Benefits of psychosocial oncology care: improved quality of life and medical cost offset. Health Qual Life Outcomes, 1 (2003), p. 8
- 12. WHO. (2014, March 11). WHOQOL: Measuring Quality of Life. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/whoqol-qualityoflife/en/
- 13. Binder, Martin, and Alex Coad. "I'm Afraid I have Bad News for You..." Estimating the Impact of Different Health Impairments on Subjective Well-being. 87 Vol. Netherlands: Elsevier Science, 2013. Web.

- 14. Rosenberg, S. M., et al. "Body Image in Recently Diagnosed Young Women with Early Breast Cancer." *Psycho-oncology* 22.8 (2013): 1849-55. Web.
- 15. Lichtenthal, W. G., et al. "Do Rates of Mental Disorders and Existential Distress among Advanced Stage Cancer Patients Increase as Death Approaches?" *Psycho-oncology* 18.1 (2009): 50-61. Web.
- Brown, L. F., et al. "The Association of Depression and Anxiety with Health-Related Quality of Life in Cancer Patients with Depression and/or Pain." *Psycho-oncology* 19.7 (2010): 734-41. Web.
- 17. McDaniel JS, Musselman DL, Porter MR, Reed DA, Nemeroff CB. Depression in patients with cancer. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1995; 52:89–99.
- 18. Grassi, L., et al. "Efficacy and Safety of Pharmacotherapy in Cancer-Related Psychiatric Disorders Across the Trajectory of Cancer Care: A Review." *International Review of Psychiatry* 26.1 (2014): 44-62. *Embase*. Web.
- 19. Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The Satisfaction with Life Scale. Journal of Personality Assessment, 49, 71-75.
- 20. Rawdin, B., C. Evans, and M. W. Rabow. "The Relationships among Hope, Pain, Psychological Distress, and Spiritual Well-being in Oncology Outpatients." *Journal of palliative medicine* 16.2 (2013): 167-72. Web.
- 21. Axelsson B. Sjoden PO. Quality of life of cancer patients and their spouses in palliative home care. Palliative Med. 1998;12:29–39.
- 22. Brandt BT. The relationship between hopelessness and selected variables in women receiving chemotherapy for breast cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum. 1987;14:35–39.
- Farran CJ. Herth KA. Popovich JM. Hope, Hopelessness: Critical Clinical Constructs.
 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1995.
- 24. Taylor EJ. Factors associated with meaning in life among people with recurrent cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum. 1993;20:1399–1405. discussion 1406–1407.
- 25. Udelman DL. Udelman HD. A preliminary report on anti-depressant therapy and its effects on hope and immunity. Soc Sci Med. 1985;20:1069–1072.
- 26. Herth KA. The relationship between level of hope and level of coping response and other variables in patients with cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum. 1989;16:67–72.
- 27. Bishara E. Loew F. Forest MI. Fabre J. Rapin CH. Is there a relationship between psychological well-being and patient-carers consensus? A clinical pilot study. J Palliat Care. 1997;13:14–22.
- 28. Post-White J. How hope affects healing. Creative Nurs. 2003;9:10–11.
- 29. Mcmillan, D., Gilbody, S., Beresford, E., & Neilly, L. (2007). Can we predict suicide and non-

- fatal self-harm with the Beck Hopelessness Scale? A meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, *37*(06), 769. doi:10.1017/s0033291706009664
- 30. Utne I. Miaskowski C. Bjordal K. Paul SM. Jakobsen G. Rustoen T. The relationship between hope and pain in a sample of hospitalized oncology patients. Palliat Support Care. 2008;6:327–334.
- 31. Utne I. Miaskowski C. Bjordal K. Paul SM. Rustoen T. The relationships between mood disturbances and pain, hope, and quality of life in hospitalized cancer patients with pain on regularly scheduled opioid analgesic. J Palliat Med. 2010;13:311–318.
- 32. Boyd, A. D., et al. "Screening for Depression, Sleep-Related Disturbances, and Anxiety in Patients with Adenocarcinoma of the Pancreas: A Preliminary Study."

 The Scientific World Journal 2012 (2012): 650707. Web.
- 33. Allgar, Victoria L., Richard D. Neal, and Shane W. Pascoe. "Cancer Patients Consultation Patterns in Primary Care and Levels of Psychological Morbidity: Findings from the Health Survey for England." *Psycho-oncology* 12.7 (2003): 736-40. Web.
- 34. Mitchell, A.J., Chan, M., Bhatti, H., Halton, M., Grassi, L., Johansen, C. & Meader, N. (2011). Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and adjustment disorder in oncological, haematologi- cal, and palliative-care settings: A meta-analysis of 94 interview- based studies. *Lancet Oncology*, 12, 160–174.
- 35. Singer, S., Das-Munshi, J. & Brähler, E. (2010). Prevalence of mental health conditions in cancer patients in acute care A meta-analysis. *Annals of Oncology*, *21*, 925–930.
- 36. Wang, Z. X., et al. "Factors Associated with Psychological Characteristics in Patients with Hepatic Malignancy before Interventional Procedures." *Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention: APJCP* 13.1 (2012): 309-14. Web.
- 37. Minagawa H, Uchitomi Y, Yamawaki S, et al (1996). Psychiatric morbidity in terminally ill cancer patients. A prospective study. *Cancer*, 78, 1131-7.
- 38. Akechi, T., et al. "Major Depression, Adjustment Disorders, and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in Terminally Ill Cancer Patients: Associated and Predictive Factors." *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 22.10 (2004): 1957-65. Web.
- 39. Derogatis, L. R., et al. "The Prevalence of Psychiatric Disorders among Cancer Patients." *Jama* 249.6 (1983): 751-7. Web.
- 40. Stefanek ME, Derogatis LP, Shaw A. Psychological distress among oncology outpatients. Prevalence and severity as measured with the Brief Symptom Inventory. Psychosomatics 1987;28(10):530–2, 7–9.

- 41. Zabora, J., BrintzenhofeSzoc, K., Curbow, B., Hooker, C., Piantadosi, S.,. The prevalence of psychological distress by cancer site. Psychonocology, 10 (1) (2001), pp. 19–28
- 42. Farber, JM., Weinerman, BH., Kuypers, JA. Psychosocial distress of oncology patients. J Psychosoc Oncol, 2 (1984), pp. 109–118
- 43. Gao, W., Bennett, MI., Stark, D., Murray, S., Higginson, IJ. Psychological distress in cancer from survivorship to end of life care: prevalence, associated factors and clinical implications. Eur J Cancer, 46 (11) (2010), pp. 2036–2044
- 44. Classen, C. C., et al. "Supportive-Expressive Group Therapy for Primary Breast Cancer Patients: A Randomized Prospective Multicenter Trial." *Psycho-oncology* 17.5 (2008): 438-47. Web.
- 45. Gallagher J, Parle M, Cairns D. Appraisal and psychological distress six months after diagnosis of breast cancer. *Br J Health Psychol* 2002;7(3):365–376.
- 46. Ford S, Lewis S, Fallowfield L. Psychological morbidity in newly referred patients with cancer. *J Psychosom Res* 1995;39(2):193–202.
- 47. American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- 48. Thekkumpurath, P., et al. "Screening for Major Depression in Cancer Outpatients: The Diagnostic Accuracy of the 9-Item Patient Health Questionnaire." *Cancer* 117.1 (2011): 218-27. Web.
- 49. Moussavi S, Chatterji S, Verdes E, Tandon A, Patel V, Ustun B. Depression, chronic diseases, and decrements in health: results from the World Health Surveys. *Lancet*. 2007; 370: 851-858.
- 50. Katon W. The impact of major depression on chronic medical illness. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 1996; 18: 215-219.
- Pasquini M, Biondi M. Depression in cancer patients: A critical review. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health* 2007;3:2. doi: 10.1186/1745-0179-3-2
- 52. Caplette-Gingras A, Savard J. Depression in women with metastatic breast cancer: A review of the literature. *Palliative & Supportive Care* 2008;6:377-387. doi: 10.1017/S1478951508000606
- 53. WeinS,SulkesA,StemmerS.Theoncologist'sroleinmanagingdepression,anxiety, and demoralization with advanced cancer. *The Cancer Journal* 2010;16:493-499. doi: 10.1097/PPO.0b013e3181f28b64
- 54. Salvo N, Zeng L, Zhang L, Leung M, Khan L, Presutti R, Nguyen J, Holden L, Culleton S, Chow E. Frequency of reporting and predictive factors for anxiety and depression in patients with advanced cancer. *Clinical Oncology* 2012;24:139-148. doi: 10.1016/j.clon.2011.05.003
- 55. Okamura H, Watanabe T, Narabayashi M, et al: Psychological distress following first

- recurrence of disease in patients with breast cancer: Prevalence and risk factors. Breast Cancer Res Treat 61:131-137, 2000
- 56. Akechi T, Okamura H, Nishiwaki Y, et al: Psychiatric disorders and associated and predictive factors in patients with unresectable nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. A longitudinal study. Cancer 92:2609-2622, 2001
- 57. Brown JH, Henteleff P, Barakat S, et al: Is it normal for terminally ill patients to desire death? Am J Psychiatry 143:208-211, 1986
- 58. Power D, Kelly S, Gilsenan J, et al: Suitable screening tests for cognitive impairment and depression in the terminally ill: A prospective prevalence study. Palliat Med 7:213-218, 1993
- 59. Chochinov HM, Wilson KG, Enns M, et al: Prevalence of depression in the terminally ill: Effects of diagnostic criteria and symptom threshold judgments. Am J Psychiatry 151:537-540, 1994
- 60. Chochinov HM, Wilson KG, Enns M, et al: Desire for death in the terminally ill. Am J Psychiatry 152:1185-1191, 1995
- 61. Maguire P, Walsh S, Jeacock J, et al: Physical and psychological needs of patients dying from colo-rectal cancer. Palliat Med 13:45-50, 1999
- 62. Fevre PL, Devereux J, Smith S, et al: Screening for psychiatric illness in the palliative care in patient setting: A comparison between the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale and the General Health Questionnaire-12. Palliat Med 13:399-407, 1999
- 63. Williams M, Friedman T, Rudd N: Criterion validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale as screening tool for depression in patients with advanced metastatic cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage 20:259-265, 2000
- 64. Breitbart W, Rosenfeld B, Pessin H, et al: Depression, hopelessness, and desire for hastened death in terminally ill patients with cancer. JAMA 284:2907-2911, 2000
- Williams ML, Friedman T, Rudd N: An analysis of the validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale as a screening tool in patients with advanced metastatic cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage 22:990-996, 2001
- 66. Hotopf M, Chidgey J, Addington-Hall J, et al: Depression in advanced disease: A systematic review Part 1. Prevalence and case finding. Palliat Med 16:81-97, 2002
- 67. Okuyama, Toru, et al. "Mental Health Literacy in Japanese Cancer Patients: Ability to Recognize Depression and Preferences of Treatment--Comparison with Japanese Lay Public." *Psycho-oncology* 16.9 (2007): 834-42. Web.
- 68. Massie, MJ. Prevalence of depression in patients with cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr (32) (2004), pp. 57–71

- 69. Ell K, Sanchez K, Vourlekis B, et al. Depression, correlates of depression, and receipt of depression care among low-income women with breast or gynecologic cancer. *J Clin Oncol*. 2005; 23: 3052-3060.
- 70. Carr D, Goudas L, Lawrence D *et al*. Management of cancer symptoms: pain, depression, and fatigue. *Evi Rep Technol Assess (Summ)* 2002;61:1–5.
- 71. Pirl WF. Evidence report on the occurrence, assessment, and treatment of depression in cancer patients. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr* 2004;32:32–39.
- 72. Robson, Anna, et al. "The Risk of Suicide in Cancer Patients: A Review of the Literature." *Psycho-oncology* 19.12 (2010): 1250-8. Web.
- 73. Perl W, Roth A. Diagnosis and treatment of depression in cancer patients. *Oncology* 1999;13(9):1293–1301.
- 74. Craig TJ, Abeloff MD: Psychiatric symptomatology among hospitalized cancer patients. Am J Psychiatry 1974;141:1323-1327.
- 75. Hoeper EW, Nycz GR, Cleary PD, et al: Estimated prevalence of RDC mental disorder in primary medical care. Int J Mental Health 1979;8:6-15.
- 76. Houpt JL, Orleans CS, George LK, et al: The Importance of Mental Health Services to General Health Care. Cambridge, Mass, Ballinger Publishing Co, 1979.
- 77. Glass RM, Allan AT, Uhlenhuth EH: Psychiatric screening in a medical clinic: An evaluation of a self-report inventory. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1978;35:1189-1195.
- 78. Hinton J: Psychiatric consultation in fatal illness. Proc R Soc Med 1972;65:29-32.
- 79. Levine PM, Silbergarb PM, Lipowski ZJ: Mental disorders in cancer patients. Cancer 1978;42:1385-1391.
- 80. Shimizu K, Akechi T, Okamura M et al. Usefulness of the nurse-assisted screening and psychiatric referral program. *Cancer* 2005;103:1949–1956.
- 81. Massie MJ, Holland JC. Depression and the cancer patient. J Clin Psychiatry 1990;51(Suppl):S12-9
- 82. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostical and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed.; text revision). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press, 2000.
- 83. Spoletini I, Gianni W, Repetto L, Bria P, Caltagirone C, Bossù P, Spalletta G. Depression and cancer: An unexplored and unresolved emergent issue in elderly patients. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology* 2008;65:143-155. Doi: 10.1016/j. critrevonc. 2007.10.005
- 84. Maneeton, B., N. Maneeton, and P. Mahathep. "Prevalence of Depression and its Correlations: A Cross-Sectional Study in Thai Cancer Patients." *Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention: APJCP* 13.5 (2012): 2039-43. Web.

- 85. Yu H, Wang Y, Ge X, et al (2012). Depression and survival in Chinese patients with gastric cancer: a prospective study. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 13, 391-4*.
- 86. Passik SD, Dugan W, McDonald MV, Rosenfeld B, Theobald DE, Edgerton S. Oncologists' recognition of depression in their patients with cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1998;16:1594-1600. Retrieved from http://jco.ascopubs.org/
- 87. McDonald MV, Passik SD, Dugan W, Rosenfeld B, Theobald DE, Edgerton S. Nurses recognition of depression in their patients with cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum. 1999; 26:593-599.
- 88. Martin ML, Lennox PH, Buckley BT (2005). Pain and anxiety: two problems, two solutions. *J Vasc Interv Radiol*, 16, 1581-4.
- 89. Chochinov H, Wilson K, Enns M *et al.* Depression, hopelessness and suicidal ideation in the terminally ill. *Psychosomatics* 1998;39(4):366–370.
- 90. Noor-Mahomed S, Schlebusch L, Bosch B. Suicidal behaviour in patients diagnosed with cancer of the cervix. *Crisis* 2003;24(4):168–172.
- 91. Akechi T, Okamura H, Kugaya A *et al*. Suicidal ideation in cancer patients with major depression. *Japan J Clin Oncol* 2000;30(5):221–224.
- 92. Akechi T, Okamura H, Nishiwaki Y *et al.* Predictive factors for suicidal ideation in patients with unrespectable lung carcinoma. *Cancer* 2002b;95(5):1085–1093.
- 93. Harwood D, Hawton K, Hope T *et al.* Life problems and physical illness as risk factors for suicide in older people: a descriptive and case-control study. *Psychol Med* 2006;36(9):1265-1274.
- 94. Roy-Byrne PP, DavidsonKW, Kessler RC, Asmundson GJG, Goodwin RD, Kubzansky L, et al. Anxiety disorders and comorbid medical illness. General Hospital Psychiatry. 2008 May-Jun; 30(3):208-225.
- 95. Stark D, Kiely M, Smith A, Velikova G, House A, Selby P. Anxiety disorders in cancer patients: Their nature, associations, and relation to quality of life. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2002 July 15; 20(14):3137-3148.
- 96. Gurevich M, Devins GM, Rodin GM: Stress response syndromes and cancer: Conceptual and assessment issues. Psychosomatics 43:259-281, 2002
- 97. Cordova MJ, Andrykowski MA, Kenady DE, et al: Frequency and correlates of posttraumaticstress-disorder-like symptoms after treatment for breast cancer. J Consult Clin Psychol 63:981-986, 1995
- 98. Alter CL, Pelcovitz D, Axelrod A, et al: Identification of PTSD in cancer survivors. Psychosomatics 37:137-143, 1996
- 99. Jacobsen PB, Widows MR, Hann DM, et al: Posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms after bone

- marrow transplantation for breast cancer. Psychosom Med 60:366-371, 1998
- 100. Andrykowski MA, Cordova MJ, Studts JL, et al: Posttraumatic stress disorder after treatment for breast cancer: Prevalence of diagnosis and use of the PTSD Checklist-Civilian Version (PCL-C) as a screening instrument. J Consult Clin Psychol 66:586-590, 1998
- 101. Green BL, Rowland JH, Krupnick JL, et al: Prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder in women with breast cancer. Psychosomatics 39: 102-111, 1998
- 102. Mundy EA, Blanchard EB, Cirenza E, et al: Posttraumatic stress disorder in breast cancer patients following autologous bone marrow transplantation or conventional cancer treatments. Behav Res Ther 38:1015-1027, 2000
- 103. Pitman RK, Lanes DM, Williston SK, et al: Psychophysiologic assessment of posttraumatic stress disorder in breast cancer patients. Psychosomatics 42:133-140, 2001
- 104. Rodin, G., et al. "Traumatic Stress in Acute Leukemia." *Psycho-oncology* 22.2 (2013): 299-307. Web.
- 105. Coleman, E. A., et al. "Fatigue, Sleep, Pain, Mood, and Performance Status in Patients with Multiple Myeloma." *Cancer nursing* 34.3 (2011): 219-27. Web.
- 106. Poulos AR, Gertz MA, Pankratz VS, Post-White J. Pain, mood disturbance, and quality of life in patients with multiple myeloma. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2001l 28(7):1163-71.
- 107. Price, Annabel, et al. "Illness Perceptions, Adjustment to Illness, and Depression in a Palliative Care Population." *Journal of pain and symptom management* 43.5 (2012): 819-32. Web.
- 108. Watson M, Homewood J. Mental Adjustment to Cancer Scale[©]: psychometric properties in a large cancer cohort. Psychooncology 2008l 17: 1146-1151.
- 109. Thomas, K. S., et al. "Post-Traumatic Disorder Symptoms and Blunted Diurnal Cortisol Production in Partners of Prostate Cancer Patients." *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 37.8 (2012): 1181-90. Web.
- 110. Savard J, Morin CM. Insomnia in the context of cancer: a review of a neglected problem. J Clin Oncol. 2001; 19(3):895–908
- 111. Savard J, et al. Insomnia in men treated with radical prostatectomy for prostate cancer. Psychooncology. 2005; 14(2):147–56.
- Davidson JR, et al. Sleep disturbance in cancer patients. Soc Sci Med. 2002; 54(9):1309–21. [PubMed: 12058848]
- 113. Lauber C, Nordt C, Falcato L, Rossler W. Do people recognise mental illness? Factors influencing mental health literacy. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2003;253:248–251.
- 114. Dean, G. E., et al. "Sleep, Mood, and Quality of Life in Patients Receiving Treatment for Lung Cancer." *Oncology nursing forum* 40.5 (2013): 441-51. Web.

- Stein, MB.; Mellman, TA. Anxiety disorders. In: Kryger, MH.; Roth, T.; Dement, WC., editors. Principles and practices of sleep medicine. 4th ed.. Elsevier Saunders; Philadelphia, PA: 2005. p. 1297-1310.
- 116. Ancoli-Israel S, Moore PJ, Jones V. The relationship between fatigue and sleep in cancer patients: a review. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2001; 10(4):245–255.
- 117. Ginsburg ML, Quirt C, Ginsburg AD, MacKillop WJ. Psychiatric illness and psychosocial concerns of patients with newly diagnosed lung cancer. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1995;
- 118. Kissane DW, Smith GC. Consultation-liaison psychiatry in an Australian oncology unit. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 1996;30(3):397–404.
- 119. Grassi L, Gritti P, Rigatelli M, Gala C. Psychosocial problems secondary to cancer: an Italian multicentre survey of consultation-liaison psychiatry in oncology. Italian Consultation-Liaison Group. Eur J Cancer 2000;36(5):579–85.
- 120. McCartney CF, Cahill P, Larson DB, Lyons JS, Wada CY, Pincus HA. Effect of a psychiatric liaison program on consultation rates and on detection of minor psychiatric disorders in cancer patients. Am J Psychiatry 1989;146(7):898–901.
- 121. National Comprehensive Cancer Network, "NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology: Distress management," http://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician gls/pdf/distress.pdf.
- 122. Shakin, EJ., and Holland, J. "Depression and pancreatic can- cer," Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 194–198, 1988.
- 123. Zilikis, N., and Dervenis, C. "Psychosomatic aspects of pancre- atic cancer," Pancreatology, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 273–275, 2003.
- 124. Jacobsson, L. and Ottosson, JO. "Initial mental disorders in carcinoma of pancreas and stomach," Acta Psychiatrica Scan- dinavica, vol. 221, Supplement, pp. 120–127, 1971.
- 125. Jia, L., Jiang, SM., Shang, YY., Huang, YX., Xie, DR., Huang, KH., Zhi, FC. "Investigation of the incidence of pancreatic cancer-related depression and its relationship with the quality of life of patients," Digestion, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 4–9, 2010.
- 126. Pezzilli, R., Campana, D., Morselli-Labate, AM., Fabbri, MC., Brocchi, E., and Tomassetti, P. "Patient-reported outcomes in subjects with neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas," World Journal of Gastroenterology, vol. 15, no. 40, pp. 5067–5073, 2009.
- 127. Jorm AF, Korten AE, Jacomb PA, Christensen H, Rodgers B, Pollitt P. Mental health literacy: a survey of the public's ability to recognise mental disorders and their beliefs about the effectiveness of treatment. Med J Aust 1997; 166:182–186.
- 128. Lauber C, Nordt C, Falcato L, Rossler W. Lay recommendations on how to treat mental

- disorders. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2001;36:553–556.
- 129. Hart, S.L., Hoyt, M.A., Diefenbach, M., Anderson, D.R., Kilbourn, K.M., Craft, L.L., et al (2012). Meta-analysis of efficacy of interventions for elevated depressive symptoms in adults diagnosed with cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 104, 990–1004.
- 130. Marcus, A. C., et al. "Can Telephone Counseling Post-Treatment Improve Psychosocial Outcomes among Early Stage Breast Cancer Survivors?" *Psycho-oncology* 19.9 (2010): 923-32. Web.
- 131. Gallo JJ, Bogner HR, Morales KH, Post EP, Lin JY, Bruce ML (2007) The effect of a primary care practice-based depression intervention on mortality in older adults: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 146(10):689–698
- 132. Glassman AH, O'Connor CM, Califf RM, Swedberg K, Sch- wartz P, Bigger JT, Jr et al (2002) Sertraline treatment of major depression in patients with acute MI or unstable angina. JAMA 288(6):701–709
- 133. Green, T., Atkin, K., & Macleod, U. (2015). Cancer detection in primary care: Insights from general practitioners. *British Journal of Cancer*, *112*(S1). doi:10.1038/bjc.2015.41
- 134. "About CPCSSN." *Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network*. Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network, 1 Jan. 2013. Web. 9 Mar. 2015. http://www.cpcssn.ca.
- 135. Kotecha, JA, D. Manca, A. Lambert-Lanning, et al. "Ethics and Privacy Issues of a Practice-based Surveillance System: Need for a National-level Institutional Research Ethics Board and Consent Standards." *Canadian Family Physician* 57.10 (2011): 1165-73. Web.
- 136. Coleman, N., G. Halas, W. Peeler, et al. "From Patient Care to Research: A Validation Study Examining the Factors Contributing to Data Quality in a Primary Care Electronic Medical Record Database." *BMC Family Practice* 16.1 (2015): 11. Web.
- 137. Williamson, The Kidney Foundation of Canada, ME Green, and R. Birtwhistle. "Validating the 8 CPCSSN Case Definitions for Chronic Disease Surveillance in a Primary Care Database of Electronic Health Records." *Annals of Family Medicine* 12.4: 367-72. Web. July 2014.
- 138. Song, J. W., & Chung, K. C. (2010). Observational studies: cohort and case-control studies. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery*, *126*(6), 2234-42.
- 139. 138IBM Corp. Released 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- 140. Hennessy, S., Bilker, W. B., Berlin, J. A., & Strom, B. L. (1999). Factors Influencing the Optimal Control-to-Case Ratio in Matched Case-Control Studies. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 149(2), 195-197. Retrieved August 3, 2018.
- 141. Pitman, A., Suleman, S., Hyde, N., & Hodgkiss, A. (2018). Depression and anxiety in patients

- with cancer. BMJ.361.
- McDaniel, J., Musselman, D., Porter, M., Reed, D., & Nemeroff, C. (1995). Depression in Patients With Cancer Diagnosis, Biology, and Treatment. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 52(2), 89-99. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1995.03950140007002
- 143. Lycken, M., Drevin, L., Garmo, H., Stattin, P., Adolfsson, J., Lissbrant, I. F., Holmberg, L., Bill-Axelson, A. (2018). The use of palliative medications before death from prostate cancer: Swedish population-based study with a comparative overview of European data. *European Journal of Cancer*, 88, 101-108. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2017.10.023
- 144. Breitbart, W. (1995). Identifying patients at risk for, and treatment of major psychiatric complications of cancer. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, *3*(1), 45-60. doi:10.1007/bf00343921
- 145. Desplenter, F., Bond, C., Watson, M., Burton, C., Murchie, P., Lee, A. J., Lefevre, K., Simoens, S., Laekeman, G. (2012). Incidence and drug treatment of emotional distress after cancer diagnosis: A matched primary care case—control study. *British Journal of Cancer*, 107(9), 1644-1651. doi:10.1038/bjc.2012.364
- 146. Ostuzzi, G., Matcham, F., Dauchy, S., Barbui, C., & Hotopf, M. (2018). Antidepressants for the treatment of depression in people with cancer. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*,(4). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011006.pub3
- 147. Gilbody, S. M., Whitty, P. M., Grimshaw, J. M., & Thomas, R. E. (2003). Improving the detection and management of depression in primary care. *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, *12*(2), 149-155. doi:10.1136/qhc.12.2.149
- 148. Sunderland, A., & Findlay, L. C. (2013). Perceived need for mental health care in Canada: Results from the 2012 Canadian Community Health Survey-Mental Health. *Health Reports*, 24(9), 3-9.
- 149. Khan, S. (2017). Concurrent mental and substance use disorders in Canada. *Health Reports*, 28(8), 3-8.
- 150. Kates, N., Craven, M., & Bishop, J. (1997). Shared Mental Health Care in Canada. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 42(8).
- 151. Lichtenthal, W. G., Nilsson, M., Zhang, B., Trice, E. D., Kissane, D. W., Breitbart, W., & Prigerson, H. G. (2009). Do rates of mental disorders and existential distress among advanced stage cancer patients increase as death approaches? *Psycho-Oncology*, 18(1), 50-61. doi:10.1002/pon.1371
- 152. Krebber, A. M., Buffart, L. M., Kleijn, G., Riepma, I. C., Bree, R. D., Leemans, C. R., Becker, A., Brug, J., van Straten, A., Cuijpers, P., Verdonck-de Leeuw, I. M. (2013). Prevalence of depression in cancer patients: A meta-analysis of diagnostic interviews and self-report

- instruments. Psycho-Oncology, 23(2), 121-130. doi:10.1002/pon.3409
- Derogatis, L. R., Feldstein, M., Melisaratos, N., Morrow, G., Schmale, A., Schmitt, M., Gates, C., Murawski, B., Holland, J., Penman, D., Melisaratos, N., Enelow, A.J., & Adler, L. M. (1979). A survey of psychotropic drug prescriptions in an oncology population. *Cancer*, 44(5), 1919-1929. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(197911)44:53.0.co;2-t
- 154. Jaeger, H., Morrow, G. R., Carpenter, P. J., & Brescia, F. (1985). A survey of psychotropic drug utilization by patients with advanced neoplastic disease. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 7(4), 353-360. doi:10.1016/0163-8343(85)90051-9
- 155. Liberman, J. A., III. (2003). History of the Use of Antidepressants in Primary Care. *Primary Care Companion Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *5*, 8-10.
- 156. Chang, F., & Gupta, N. (2015). Progress in electronic medical record adoption in Canada. *Canadian Family Physician*, *61*(12), 1076-1084.
- 157. Queenan JA, Williamson T, Khan S, Drummond N, Garies S, Morkem R, Birtwhistle R. Representativeness of patients and providers in the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network: a cross-sectional study. CMAJ Open. 2016 Jan 25;4(1):E28-32. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20140128. eCollection 2016 Jan-Mar. PubMed PMID: 27331051; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4866925.
- 158. Abidi, L., Oenema, A., Akker, M. V., & Mheen, D. V. (2018). Do general practitioners record alcohol abuse in the electronic medical records? A comparison of survey and medical record data. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 34(3), 567-572. doi:10.1080/03007995.2018.1424623
- 159. Statistics Canada. (2017, May 11). Accessing mental health care in Canada. Retrieved from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-627-m/11-627-m2017019-eng.htm
- 160. Zaini, S., Guan, N. C., Sulaiman, A. H., Zainal, N. Z., Huri, H. Z., & Shamsudin, S. H. (2018).
 The Use of Antidepressants for Physical and Psychological Symptoms in Cancer. *Current Drug Targets*, 19. doi:10.2174/1389450119666180226125026
- Burgess C, Cornelius V, Love S, Graham J, Richards M, Ramirez A. Depression and anxiety in women with early breast cancer: five year observational cohort study. *BMJ*. 2005;330:702.
- 162. Briley, M., & Lépine, J. (2011). The increasing burden of depression. *Neuropsychiatric Disease* and *Treatment*, 7, 3-7. doi:10.2147/ndt.s19617